HEARING TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003

Committee Agenda
City of Westminster
Title:
Meeting Date:
Time:
Venue:
Members:

Licensing Sub-Committee (4)
Wednesday, 10th February 2021
10.00 am
Microsoft Teams Virtual Meeting
Councillors:
Karen Scarborough (Chairman)
Jim Glen
Maggie Carman
If you require any information, please contact the Committee
Officer, Kisi Smith-Charlemagne, Senior Committee and
Governance Officer.
Email:
Tel:
Corporate Website:

scharlemagne@westminster.gov.uk
07817054613
www.westminster.gov.uk

Note for Members: Members are reminded that officer contacts are shown at the end of
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.
Regarding Item 2, guidance on Declarations of Interests is included in the Code of
Governance. If Members and Officers have any questions, they should contact the
Director of Law before the meeting please.

AGENDA
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)
1.

MEMBERSHIP
To report any changes to the membership.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other
significant interest in matters on this agenda.
Licensing Applications for Determination
Following an Expedited Review Hearing held on Tuesday, 19
January 2021, the Sub Committee is asked to hear a Full Review
of the premises licence granted to Olympic Food and Wine, 21
Moscow Rd, London W2 4AH.

1.

OLYMPIC FOOD AND WINE, MOSCOW ROAD, LONDON W2
4AH
Ward
CIA*

Site Name &
Address

Lancaster
Gate

Olympic Food Final
& Wine
Review
21 Moscow
Hearing
Rd
London
W2 4AH

*Cumulative Impact Area

Stuart Love
Chief Executive
02 February 2021

Application
Type

Licensing
Reference No.
13/03218/LIDPSR

In considering applications for premises licences under the Licensing Act 2003, the subcommittee is advised of the following:
POLICY CONSIDERATIONS
The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to the City of Westminster
statement of Licensing Policy, effective from 7th January 2016.
GUIDANCE CONSIDERATIONS
The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to any guidance issued by the
Secretary of State under Section 182 the Licensing Act 2003. The most recent version
was published in April 2018.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1.

21/00348/LIREVX
Date:
Subject:

Licence Holder:
Mr Pejman Akbari

Licensing Sub-Committee Report
Wednesday 10th February 2021
Full review of the premises licence for:
Olympic Food and Wine
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Ward: Lancaster Gate

Cumulative Impact Area:
No

Summary
An application was made by the Metropolitan Police Service on 15th January 2021 to review the
premises licence for Olympic Food and Wine, 21 Moscow Road, London, W2 4AH under the
Section 53A(1)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003

A Licensing Sub-Committee was convened on the 19 January 2021 to consider whether it was
necessary to take interim steps pending the determination of the Review applied for. The SubCommittee decided to suspend the premises licence until the Full Review hearing scheduled
for 10th February 2021.
Representations have been received from members of the public and the Licensing Authority
in support of the application lodged by the Metropolitan Police Service and these can be seen
at Appendix 5 of the report.
Review of Interim Steps taken
The Licensing Authority is required to review the interim steps taken on 19 January 2021 to
suspend the Licence and consider whether it is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing
objectives for the steps to remain in place, or if they should be modified or withdrawn.
Full Review hearing
The purpose of this Licensing Sub-Committee is to carry out a full review of the premises licence
pursuant to Section 53C of the Licensing Act 2003.
Options for the full review
The Authority must, having regard to the application and the representations, take such
steps (if any), as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
The steps are:
(a) to modify the conditions of the licence;
(b) to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;

page 1

(c) to remove the designated premises supervisor;
(d) to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
(e) to revoke the licence;

page 2

1.

Summary of review application

1.1

Intelligence had been received that a number of customers had been witnessed entering the
shop and leaving without goods for the premises located at 21 Moscow Road, W2 4AH. The
Metropolitan Police Service upon executing a warrant and gained entry to the premises where
Officers conducted a thorough search and found a number of what is suspected

1.2

It became apparent that the premises had also been selling alcohol without a Designated
Premises Supervisor since May 2013.

1.3

A Licensing Sub-Committee was held on the 19th January 2021 to consider whether it was
necessary to take interim steps pending the determination of the Review. The Licensing SubCommittee decided to suspend the premises licence pending the Full Review hearing scheduled
for 10th February 2021. A copy of the Interim Steps Decision can be seen at Appendix 4 of
this report

2.

Submissions from Licensee

2.1

At the time of writing the report no submissions from the Premises Licence Holder or his
representatives had been received.

3.

Response to Consultation

3.1

On the 24th January 2021 a representation was received from a member of the public. The
objector wishes to remain anonymous. A copy of the representation in support of the review
can be seen at Appendix 5 (numbered 1) of this report.

3.2

On the 26th January 2021 a representation was received from a member of the public. The
objector wishes to remain anonymous. A copy of the representation in support of the review
can be seen at Appendix 5 (numbered 2) of this report.

3.3

On the 28th January 2021 a representation was received from a member of the public. A copy
of the representation can be seen at Appendix 5 (numbered 3) of this report.

3.4

On the 29th January 2021 a representation was received from the Licensing Authority in
support of the review. A copy of the representation can be seen at Appendix 5 (numbered 4)
of this report.

4.

Interim steps

4.1

Under the provisions of section 53A(2)(a) of the Act the Licensing Authority must within 48 hours
of receiving the review application consider whether it is necessary to take interim steps pending
the determination of a full review of the premises licence.

4.2

The Licensing Authority held a Licensing Sub-Committee on 19 January 2021 to consider
whether it was necessary to take any interim steps pending the determination of the full
review. The Licensing Sub-Committee decided it was necessary and proportionate to suspend
the Premises Licence with immediate effect, pending the full Review Hearing.

4.3

The Licensing Authority is required to review the interim steps taken on 19 January 2021 to
suspend the Licence and consider whether it is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing
objectives for the steps to remain in place, or if they should be modified or withdrawn.

5.

Options for the full review hearing

page 3

5.1

The Authority must, having regard to the application and the representations received, take such
steps (if any), as it considers appropriate and proportionate for the promotion of the licensing
objectives. The steps are:
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)

to modify the conditions of the licence;
to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
to remove the designated premises supervisor;
to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
to revoke the licence;

5.2

At the time of report publication the premises did not have a Designated Premises Supervisor
for the premises. Therefore the premises are not permitted to provide the sale of alcohol by
retail.

6.

Equality Implications
The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to
its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of
its functions, have due regard to the need to:
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristics and persons who do not share it.
Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected characteristics as age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation.

7.

Appendices

7.1

Appendix 1 – Premises Licence
Appendix 2 – Review Application Form
Appendix 3 – Supporting evidence from the Metropolitan Police Service
Appendix 4 - Licensing Sub-Committee Decision for Interim Steps Hearing
Appendix 5 - Representations
Appendix 6 – Licence History
Appendix 7 – Section 11 of 182 Guidance

If you have any queries about this report or wish to inspect one of the background papers please
contact Michelle Steward on 07815 000597, or email msteward@westminster.gov.uk.
Background Papers
•
•
•
•

•

Licensing Act 2003
Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006
The Licensing Act 2003 (Summary Review of Premises Licences) Regulations 2007
Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (March 2015)
Department for Culture Media and Sport, Licensing Act 2003 – Expedited/Summary Licence Reviews
Guidance (October 2007)

page 4

APPENDIX 1

Schedule 12
Part A

WARD: Lancaster Gate
UPRN: 100023480397

City of Westminster
64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP

Premises licence

Premises licence number:

Regulation 33, 34

13/03218/LIDPSR

Original Reference:

05/06095/LIPCV

Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises:
Olympic Food Centre
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Telephone Number: 020 7243 3498
Where the licence is time limited, the dates:
Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Playing of Recorded Music
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for
consideration and with a view to profit
Sale by Retail of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities:
Playing of Recorded Music

Unrestricted

Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind
for consideration and with a view to profit
Unrestricted
Sale by Retail of Alcohol
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
10:00 to 22:30

For times authorised for Christmas and Good Friday see conditions at Annex 1

page 5

The opening hours of the premises:
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol, whether these are on and/or off
supplies:
Alcohol is supplied for consumption off the Premises.

Part 2
Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of
premises licence:

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where
applicable)
N/A

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the
premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol:
Name:

None

Please note: It is the policy of the Licensing Authority not to display the address details of
a designated premises supervisor.

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated
premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol:
Licence Number:
Licensing Authority:

Date:

None
None

14 January 2021

This licence has been authorised by Miss Daisy Gadd on behalf of the Director - Public
Protection and Licensing.

page 6

Annex 1 – Mandatory conditions

1.

No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises
supervisor in respect of this licence.

2.

No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor
does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.

3.

Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who
holds a personal licence.

4.

(1)

The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that
an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the
sale or supply of alcohol.

(2)

The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must
ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with
the age verification policy.

(3)

The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be
under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to
produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their
photograph, date of birth and either—
(a)
(b)

a holographic mark, or
an ultraviolet feature.

5(i)

A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or
off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

5(ii)

For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 5(i) above (a)

"duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;

(b)

"permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D+(DxV)
Where (i)
(ii)
(iii)

(c)

P is the permitted price,
D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty
were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if
the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the
alcohol;

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in
force a premises licence (i)
(ii)
(iii)

the holder of the premises licence,
the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence,
or
the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of
alcohol under such a licence;

page 7

(d)

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply
in question; and

(e)

"value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value
Added Tax Act 1994.

5(iii).

Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 5(ii)(b) above would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the
nearest penny.

5(iv).

(1)

(2)

Sub-paragraph 5(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by
Paragraph 5(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the
rate of duty or value added tax.
The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or
supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days
beginning on the second day.

Conditions reproducing the effect of conditions subject to which the relevant existing
licences have effect.
Conditions for Sale of Alcohol
Conditions which reproduce the effect of any restriction imposed on the use of the
premises by specified enactments.
6.

Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied except during permitted hours.
In this condition, permitted hours means:
(a) On weekdays, other than Christmas Day, 08:00 to 23:00
(b) On Sundays, other than Christmas Day, 10:00 to 22:30
(c) On Christmas Day, 12:00 to 15:00 and 19:00 to 22:30
(d) On Good Friday, 08:00 to 22:30
The above restrictions do not prohibit:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

7.

during the first twenty minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol
from the premises unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel;
ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by the
vendor of the alcohol so ordered;
sale of alcohol to a trader or club for the purposes of the trade or club;
the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen in which
the sale or supply of alcohol is carried out under the authority of the Secretary of
State or an authorised mess of members of Her Majesty's naval, military or air
forces.

Alcohol shall not be sold in an open container or be consumed in the licensed premises.

page 8

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule
None

page 9

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority
None

page 10

Annex 4 – Plans

page 11

Schedule 12
Part B

City of Westminster
64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP

WARD: Lancaster Gate
UPRN: 100023480397

Premises licence
summary

Premises licence number:

Regulation 33, 34

13/03218/LIDPSR

Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises:
Olympic Food Centre
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Telephone Number: 020 7243 3498
Where the licence is time limited, the dates:
Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Playing of Recorded Music
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for
consideration and with a view to profit
Sale by Retail of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities:
Playing of Recorded Music

Unrestricted

Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind
for consideration and with a view to profit
Unrestricted
Sale by Retail of Alcohol
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
10:00 to 22:30

For times authorised for Christmas and Good Friday see conditions at Annex 1
The opening hours of the premises:
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

page 12

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol, whether these are on and/or off
supplies:
Alcohol is supplied for consumption off the Premises.

Name and (registered) address of holder of premises licence:

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where
applicable)
N/A

Name of designated premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the
supply of alcohol:
Name:

None

State whether access to the premises by children is restricted or prohibited:
Restricted

Date:

14 January 2021

This licence has been authorised by Miss Daisy Gadd on behalf of the Director - Public
Protection and Licensing.

page 13

page 14

page 15

page 16

METROPOLITAN POLICE
EVIDENCE - THIS PAGE IS
LEFT BLANK

page 17

APPENDIX 3

REVIEW APPLICATION
PREMISES LICENCE
MG11 STATEMENTS
BODY WORN VIDEO
TRANSCRIPT
WARRANT
EXHIBITS
HISTORY OF
LICENSING

FORM 693 & 693A FOR REVIEW APPLICATION
LICENCE NUMBER 13/03218/LIPDSR
STATEMENTS FROM PC DEWELTZ, PC GUERRA, PC RICHARDS,
PC WOOD, PC SEALY, PC YARDLEY-HYDE, PC CARTER, PC
O’CONNOR, PC SYED, PC BEST, PC WILSON, PC MORGAN
TRANSCRIPT BY PC GUERRA

1
2
3

COPY OF WARRANT ISSUED BY CROYDON MAGISTRATES
COURT ON 16/12/20
EXHIBITS FROM PC DEWELTZ, PC MORGAN
HISTORY OF LICENSING AT 21 MOSCOW ROAD, W2 4AH

5

page 18

4

6
7

REVIEW
APPLICATION

page 19

page 20

page 21

page 22

page 23

page 24

PREMISES
LICENCE

page 25

Schedule 12
Part A

WARD: Lancaster Gate
UPRN: 100023480397

City of Westminster
64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP

Premises licence

Premises licence number:

Regulation 33, 34

13/03218/LIDPSR

Original Reference:

05/06095/LIPCV

Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises:
Olympic Food Centre
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Telephone Number: 020 7243 3498
Where the licence is time limited, the dates:
Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Playing of Recorded Music
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for
consideration and with a view to profit
Sale by Retail of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities:
Playing of Recorded Music

Unrestricted

Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like
kind for consideration and with a view to profit Unrestricted
Sale by Retail of Alcohol
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
10:00 to 22:30

For times authorised for Christmas and Good Friday see conditions at Annex 1
The opening hours of the premises:
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

page 26

page 27

Annex 1 – Mandatory conditions
1.

No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises
supervisor in respect of this licence.

2.

No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises
supervisor does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.

3.

Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised b y a p erson
who holds a personal licence.

4.

(1)

The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ens ure
that an age verif ication policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation
to the sale or supply of alcohol.

(2)

The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence mus t
ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance
with the age verification policy.

(3)

The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to
be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the
policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification
bearing their photograph, date of birth and either—
(a)
(b)

a holographic mark, or
an ultraviolet feature.

5(i)

A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on
or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

5(ii)

For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 5(i) above (a)

"duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor D uties A ct
1979;

(b)

"permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D+(DxV)
Where (i)
(ii)
(iii)

(c)

P is the permitted price,
D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if t he
duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol,
and
V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol
as if the value added tax were charged on t he dat e of t he s ale or
supply of the alcohol;

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which t here is
in f orce a premises licence (i)
(ii)
(iii)

the holder of the premises licence,
the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a
licence, or
the personal licence holder who makes or aut horises a s upply of
alcohol under such a licence;

page 28

(d)

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which t here is
in f orce a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present
on the premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent
the supply in question; and

(e)

"value added tax" means value added tax charged in acc ordance wit h the
Value Added Tax Act 1994.

5(iii).

Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 5(ii)(b) above would (apart f rom this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to t he
nearest penny.

5(iv).

(1)

(2)

Sub-paragraph 5(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by
Paragraph 5(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from t he
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change t o
the rate of duty or value added tax.
The permitted price which would apply on the first d ay applies t o s ales or
supplies of alcohol which take place before the ex piry of t he p eriod of 14
days beginning on the second day.

Conditions reproducing the effect of conditions subject to which the relevant exi sti ng
licences have effect.
Conditions for Sale of Alcohol
Conditions which reproduce the effect of any restriction imposed on the use of the
premises by specified enactments.
6.

Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied except during permitted hours.
In this condition, permitted hours means:
(a) On weekdays, other than Christmas Day, 08:00 to 23:00
(b) On Sundays, other than Christmas Day, 10:00 to 22:30
(c) On Christmas Day, 12:00 to 15:00 and 19:00 to 22:30
(d) On Good Friday, 08:00 to 22:30
The above restrictions do not prohibit:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

7.

during the f irst twenty minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol
f rom the premises unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel;
ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by t he
vendor of the alcohol so ordered;
sale of alcohol to a trader or club for the purposes of the trade or club;
the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen o r mess, being a c anteen in
which the sale or supply of alcohol is carried out under the aut horit y of t he
Secretary of State or an authorised mess of members of Her Majesty's naval,
military or air forces.

Alcohol shall not be sold in an open container or be consumed in the licensed
premises.

page 29

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule
None

page 30

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority
None

page 31

Annex 4 – Plans

page 32

Schedule 12
Part B

City of Westminster
64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP

WARD: Lancaster Gate
UPRN: 100023480397

Premises licence
summary

Premises licence number:

Regulation 33, 34

13/03218/LIDPSR

Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises:
Olympic Food Centre
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Telephone Number: 020 7243 3498
Where the licence is time limited, the dates:
Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Playing of Recorded Music
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for
consideration and with a view to profit
Sale by Retail of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities:
Playing of Recorded Music

Unrestricted

Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like
kind for consideration and with a view to profit Unrestricted
Sale by Retail of Alcohol
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
10:00 to 22:30

For times authorised for Christmas and Good Friday see conditions at Annex 1
The opening hours of the premises:
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

page 33

page 34

POLICE
STATEMENTS

page 35

RESTRICTED (when complete)

MG11

STATEMENT OF WITNESS
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r. 16.2; Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9)
URN
Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz
Age if under 18: Over 18
Occupation: Police officer
This statement is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in
evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be false, or do
not believe to be true.
Signature:
Date: 14 Jan 2021
My name is Adam Deweltz and I am a Police Constable for the Metropolitan Police Service. I have been a
Police Officer for 19 years and I am an experienced licensing officer currently working in the Westminster
Police Licensing Unit. I have been in this role since November 2014. Since then I have dealt with a wide range
of licensing matters including applications for new premises licences, licence committee hearings, licence
review hearings and a large number of licensing visits to a variety of licensed premises within the City Of
Westminster. My unit is responsible for over 5,000 licensed premises in Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea
and Hammersmith and Fulham. When visiting these licensed premises the aim is to work in partnership with
them by making improvements and offering advice to ensure the licensing objectives are achieved.
I submit the below information in regard to an application by the Westminster Police Licensing Unit, on behalf of
the Commissioner of the Metropolitan Police, to review the premises Licence of Olympic Food and Wine, 21
Moscow Road, W2 4AH. Premises licence number 13/03218/LIDPSR
The Westminster Police Licensing Unit seeks revocation of the premises licence on the grounds of Prevention
of Crime and Disorder.
On Wednesday 13th January 2021 at approximately 15:15 hours, uniformed Police Officers executed a Section
23 Misuse of Drugs Act warrant at Olympic Food and Wine, 21 Moscow Road, W2 4AH. Intelligence had been
received by local officers that individuals were entering the premises for a very short time and then leaving
empty handed with no bags or purchases. Given this suspicious behaviour, officers obtained a warrant from
Court to search the premises for controlled substances.
Once entry has been made, a large amount of what is believed to be illegal drugs, was found behind the front
desk and at the back of the premises. A
was also found and therefore a Trojan (Armed
Response Unit) dog was deployed to the scene to search for anything firearms related. Further items such as
cash, weighing scales and syringes were also found in the search.
The venue is a licensed premises, which has off sales of alcohol. Alcohol was displayed on the shelves inside
the shop. The licensee is a male by the name of
. He was behind the counter at the time Police entered the shop. He was detained and subsequently
arrested for
.
Also present in the shop was
He
was also arrested for the same offences. Both males were transported to a Police station and booked into
custody whereby they would be interviewed under caution.

Signature:
Signature Witnessed by:
Page 1 of 2
eStatement no: AW-1000629-2021

page 36

RESTRICTED (when complete)

RESTRICTED (when complete)

MG11C

Continuation of Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz

On Thursday 14th January 2021, Westminster Police Licensing were made aware that the warrant was
executed at the address. Enquiries were immediately made into the premises licence and Westminster City
Council were contacted. Checks into the premises licence revealed that since May 2013, there has not been a
Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS). The previous DPS (
at the premises wrote to
WCC on 03/05/2013 asking to be removed as the DPS from the premises licence, as he was no longer
connected with the premises. This was acknowledge by WCC and they replied to him on the 10th May 2013.
Mr
was still the licence holder and he had a responsibility to ensure the premises licence had
a DPS. Because no individual was ever allocated the position of DPS by way of applying through WCC, this
meant any sales of alcohol would be unauthorised and unlawful.
continued to permit the
sale of alcohol from 21 Moscow Road, W2 unlawfully and without correct authorisation.
Westminster Police Licensing Unit are reviewing the premises licence for 21 Moscow Road, W2. The licensee
has clearly failed to promote the Licensing Objectives, namely The Prevention of Crime and Disorder. Not only
has a
, but he has been trading unlawfully
by selling alcohol without a DPS. We will be seeking full revocation of the premises licence when this matter is
brought before the Licensing Sub-committee at Westminster City Council.

Witness Signature:
Signature Witnessed by:
Page 2 of 2
eStatement no AW-1000629-2021

page 37

RESTRICTED (when complete)

RESTRICTED (when complete)

Witness contact details

MG11

URN

Name of witness:
Home Address:
E-mail address:
Home Telephone Number:

Postcode:
Mobile:

Preferred means of contact (specify details for vulnerable/intimidated victims and witnesses only):
Date and place of birth:
Former name:

Work Telephone Number:

Gender:

Ethnicity Code (16 + 1):

DATES OF WITNESS NON-AVAILABILITY:
Witness care
If ‘No’, include reason(s) on form MG6.

a)

Is the witness willing to attend court?

b)

What can be done to ensure attendance?

c)
Does the witness require a Special Measures Assessment as a vulnerable or intimidated witness? (youth
under 18; witness with mental disorder, learning or physical disability; or witness in fear of giving evidence or
witness is the complainant in a sexual offence case) If ‘Yes’ submit MG2 with file in anticipated not guilty, contested
or indictable only cases.
d)
Does the witness have any particular needs? If ‘Yes’ what are they? .
Witness Consent (for witness completion)
a) The Victim Personal Statement scheme (victims only) has been explained to me

Yes

No

b) I have been given the Victim Personal Statement leaflet

Yes

No

c) I have been given the leaflet “Giving a witness statement to the police…”

Yes

No

d) I consent to police having access to my medical record(s) in relation to
this matter (obtained in accordance with local practice)

Yes

No

NA

e) I consent to my medical record in relation to this matter being disclosed to
the defence

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

f)

I consent to the statement being disclosed for the purposes of civil, or
other proceedings if applicable, e.g. child care proceedings, CICA

g) Child witness cases only. I have had the provision regarding reporting
restrictions explained to me.
I would like CPS to apply for reporting restrictions on my behalf.

‘I understand that the information recorded above will be passed on to the Witness Service, which offers help and
support to witnesses pre-trial and at court’.
Signature of witness:

PRINT NAME:

Signature of parent/guardian/appropriate adult

PRINT NAME:

Address and telephone number (of parent etc.), if different from above:
Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz

Station: AW

Time and place statement taken: 14:46:38 14 Jan 21 - 17:16:09 14 Jan 21 at Charing Cross Police Station
Break from 14:46:38 14 Jan 21 - 16:17:09 14 Jan 21 for reasons: Completing Certificate under Section
53A(1)(b) Licensing Act 2003 for review of the Premises Licence
Break from 16:17:09 14 Jan 21 - 17:15:24 14 Jan 21 for reasons: Completing review papers.

page 38
RESTRICTED (when complete)

eStatement no: AW-1000629-2021

page 39

page 40

page 41

RESTRICTED (when complete)

Witness contact details

URN

Name of witness:
Home Address:
E-mail address:
Home Telephone Number:

MG11

01

CW

000270

21

Postcode:
Mobile:

Preferred means of contact (specify details for vulnerable/intimidated victims and witnesses only):
Date and place of birth:
Former name:

Work Telephone Number:

Gender:

Ethnicity Code (16 + 1):

DATES OF WITNESS NON-AVAILABILITY:
Witness care
If ‘No’, include reason(s) on form MG6.

a)

Is the witness willing to attend court?

b)

What can be done to ensure attendance?

c)
Does the witness require a Special Measures Assessment as a vulnerable or intimidated witness? (youth
under 18; witness with mental disorder, learning or physical disability; or witness in fear of giving evidence or
witness is the complainant in a sexual offence case) If ‘Yes’ submit MG2 with file in anticipated not guilty, contested
or indictable only cases.
d)
Does the witness have any particular needs? If ‘Yes’ what are they? .
Witness Consent (for witness completion)
a) The Victim Personal Statement scheme (victims only) has been explained to me

Yes

No

b) I have been given the Victim Personal Statement leaflet

Yes

No

c) I have been given the leaflet “Giving a witness statement to the police…”

Yes

No

d) I consent to police having access to my medical record(s) in relation to
this matter (obtained in accordance with local practice)

Yes

No

NA

e) I consent to my medical record in relation to this matter being disclosed to
the defence

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

f)

I consent to the statement being disclosed for the purposes of civil, or
other proceedings if applicable, e.g. child care proceedings, CICA

g) Child witness cases only. I have had the provision regarding reporting
restrictions explained to me.
I would like CPS to apply for reporting restrictions on my behalf.

‘I understand that the information recorded above will be passed on to the Witness Service, which offers help and
support to witnesses pre-trial and at court’.
Signature of witness:

PRINT NAME:

Signature of parent/guardian/appropriate adult

PRINT NAME:

Address and telephone number (of parent etc.), if different from above:
Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz

Station: AW

Time and place statement taken: 10:04:41 20 Jan 21 - 18:12:13 20 Jan 21 at Charing Cross Police Station
Break from 11:58:21 20 Jan 21 - 13:55:47 20 Jan 21 for reasons: Licensing meeting took place.
Break from 14:36:02 20 Jan 21 - 15:22:45 20 Jan 21 for reasons: Responding to licensing emails
Break from 17:15:23 20 Jan 21 - 17:47:31 20 Jan 21 for reasons: Licensing phone call

page 42
RESTRICTED (when complete)

eStatement no: AW-1000928-2021

RESTRICTED (when complete)

MG11

STATEMENT OF WITNESS
(Criminal Procedure Rules, r. 16.2; Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9)
URN

01

CW

000270

21

Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz
Age if under 18: Over 18
Occupation: Police officer
This statement is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it knowing that, if it is tendered in
evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be false, or do
not believe to be true.
Signature:
Date: 27 Jan 2021
Further to my last statement dated the 20th January 2021, in relation to the summary review of Olympic Food
and Wine, ref. 21/00348/LIREVX, I submit the following information:
Westminster Police Licensing have removed from the file, the document that contained Criminal Intelligence
reports (CRIMINT). These reports contain sensitive information. They were initially in the file to demonstrate the
effect the licensee's alleged criminal activity was having in the local area. I made reference to this document on
the second page of my second statement and referred to it as exhibit ASD/4.
The CRIMINT document (ASD/4) gave a summary of suspected criminal activity from the licensee in the shop.
The intelligence came
and to
Police.
I make reference to the following CRIMINT reports with the dates the information came in:
CWRT01011906 - 26/11/2019
CWRT01012814 - 10/02/2020
CWRT01015242 - 10/02/2020
CWRT01018874 - 29/05/2020
CWRT01020384 - 30/05/2020
CWRT01023796 - 24/07/2020
CWRT01027342 - 30/09/2020
CWRT01027354 - 30/09/2020
I also make reference to CAD number 6791 - 09/04/2020, which was a call to Police regarding members of the
public outside the venue drinking and dealing drugs.
In addition I make reference to three (3) Crime reports that are linked to the premises:
CRIS 6509441/20 - Theft on 28/01/2020
CRIS 6519592/20 - Robbery on 05/04/2020
(There is no suggestion that the licensee is a suspect for the either of the two crimes above and they both been
closed).

Signature:
Signature Witnessed by:
Page 1 of 2
eStatement no: AW-1001290-2021

page 43

RESTRICTED (when complete)

RESTRICTED (when complete)

MG11C

Continuation of Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz
CRIS 6501049/21 on 13/01/2021. This Crime report is the on-going
criminal investigation and therefore, has been removed from the file.

Witness Signature:
Signature Witnessed by:
Page 2 of 2
eStatement no AW-1001290-2021

page 44

RESTRICTED (when complete)

RESTRICTED (when complete)

Witness contact details

URN

Name of witness:
Home Address:
E-mail address:
Home Telephone Number:

MG11

01

CW

000270

21

Postcode:
Mobile:

Preferred means of contact (specify details for vulnerable/intimidated victims and witnesses only):
Date and place of birth:
Former name:

Work Telephone Number:

Gender:

Ethnicity Code (16 + 1):

DATES OF WITNESS NON-AVAILABILITY:
Witness care
a)

Is the witness willing to attend court?

b)

What can be done to ensure attendance?

If ‘No’, include reason(s) on form MG6.

c)
Does the witness require a Special Measures Assessment as a vulnerable or intimidated witness? (youth
under 18; witness with mental disorder, learning or physical disability; or witness in fear of giving evidence or
witness is the complainant in a sexual offence case) If ‘Yes’ submit MG2 with file in anticipated not guilty, contested
or indictable only cases.
d)
Does the witness have any particular needs? If ‘Yes’ what are they? .
Witness Consent (for witness completion)
a) The Victim Personal Statement scheme (victims only) has been explained to me

Yes

No

b) I have been given the Victim Personal Statement leaflet

Yes

No

c) I have been given the leaflet “Giving a witness statement to the police…”

Yes

No

d) I consent to police having access to my medical record(s) in relation to
this matter (obtained in accordance with local practice)

Yes

No

NA

e) I consent to my medical record in relation to this matter being disclosed to
the defence

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

Yes

No

NA

f)

I consent to the statement being disclosed for the purposes of civil, or
other proceedings if applicable, e.g. child care proceedings, CICA

g) Child witness cases only. I have had the provision regarding reporting
restrictions explained to me.
I would like CPS to apply for reporting restrictions on my behalf.

‘I understand that the information recorded above will be passed on to the Witness Service, which offers help and
support to witnesses pre-trial and at court’.
Signature of witness:

PRINT NAME:

Signature of parent/guardian/appropriate adult

PRINT NAME:

Address and telephone number (of parent etc.), if different from above:
Statement of: Constable Adam Deweltz

Station: AW

Time and place statement taken: 11:10:38 27 Jan 21 - 14:28:08 27 Jan 21 at Charing Cross Police Station
Break from 11:14:21 27 Jan 21 - 14:27:32 27 Jan 21 for reasons: Licensing meeting

page 45
RESTRICTED (when complete)

eStatement no: AW-1001290-2021

page 46

RESTRICTED (when completed)
Page 2 of 2
Continuation of Statement of

PC Reaz Guerra 1614CW ...........................................................................

We attended at approximately 1130 hours, as we entered the premises there was a male who
I now know to be

, he was the only person present in the shop. We Identified

ourselves and PC Deweltz explained our reason for attending the premises.

I then asked

if the licence holder

was there, to which

said “No.” I said “Will he be here today?”
a few hours.” PC Deweltz then handed

said “Maybe he will be here in
a copy of the review papers and a

copy of the current issued premises licence. A few minutes later whilst we were explaining the
review papers and process, a male I now know to be

walked into the premises,

I identified and introduced myself to him. I asked him to confirm that he was the premises
licence holder, which he confirmed. PC Deweltz then explained the purpose of our visit and
that the was no Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) in respect of this premises licence
therefore they were not authorised to sell any alcohol. I could see that there was a large
display of alcohol, including beers, wines and spirits, occupying nearly all of the wall behind
from behind the counter to the rear of the shop floor.

I then explained to both

and

that all alcohol on display needed to be

removed immediately, as without the appropriate authorisation it was an offence to expose
alcohol for sale, I explained that officers from Westminster Council would be attending the
premises later to display a notice in relation to the review application which needed to be
displayed at the premises and that when they attended they would make observations to see if
the alcohol had been removed from display, if it hadn’t the premises could be prosecuted for
the offence.

then said that he would use his cousins licence to sell the alcohol, I

again explained the application process for appointing a designated premises supervisor and
advised them to contact the Westminster Council Licensing service for further advice. We then
left the premises.

Signature:
2003(1)

.........................................

Signature witnessed by:

page 47

....................................................

page 48

page 49

page 50

page 51

page 52

page 53

page 54

page 55

page 56

page 57

page 58

page 59

page 60

page 61

page 62

page 63

page 64

page 65

page 66

page 67

page 68

page 69

page 70

page 71

page 72

page 73

page 74

page 75

page 76

page 77

page 78

page 79

page 80

page 81

page 82

page 83

page 84

page 85

page 86

BODY WORN
VIDEO
TRANSCRIPT

page 87

21 Moscow Road,
Extracts of Body Worn Video Footage

page 88

Clip
No.
Clip 01

Camera/Officer
Name/Clip title
PC Wood - RTW/01 –
Clip 01
Find.

Date/time

Clip 02

PC Wood - RTW/01 –
Clip 02
Officer Verbal account
of significant finds.

1540
(13Jan21)

0m57s

Footage is from behind the shop counter. Officer providing verbal
account of significant finds.

Clip 03

PC Wood RTW/01 –
Clip 03
Finding of
and
.
PC Wood- RTW/01Clip 04

1542
(13Jan21)

1m01s

Footage is from behind the shop counter. Officer finds::-

1543
(13Jan21)

0m27s

Footage is from behind the shop counter. Officer finds::.

PC Wood RTW/01 –
Clip 05

1544
(13Jan21)

2m00s

Footage is from behind the shop counter. Officer finds:-

PC Wood
RTW/01 – Clip 06

1550
(13Jan21)

0m38s

Clip 04

Clip 05

Clip 06

1528
(13Jan21)

Clip
Length
1m02s

Description of footage
Footage is from behind the shop counter. Officer finds
.

,

.
Footage is from behind the shop counter:Officer finds

.

page 89

COPY OF
WARRANT

page 90

page 91

EXHIBITS

page 92

PC DEWELTZ
EXHIBITS

page 93

ASD/1
List of conditions requested by Police for a Minor Variation.
1) The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the
minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit
points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any
light condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open
for licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises.
All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time
stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the
request of Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31 day period.
2) A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV
system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff
member must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of
recent CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested.
3) All sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be in sealed containers
only, and shall not be consumed on the premises.
4) No super-strength beer, lagers, ciders or spirit mixtures of 5.5% ABV (alcohol by
volume) or above shall be sold at the premises, except for premium beers and ciders
supplied in glass bottles and cans.
5) There shall be no self-selection of spirits on the premises, save for spirit mixtures
less than 5.5% ABV.
6) Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where the only
acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification cards,
such as a driving licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
7) An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an
authorised officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24
hours of the incident and will record the following:
(a) all crimes reported to the venue
(b) all ejections of patrons
(c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
(d) any incidents of disorder
(e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons
(f) any faults in the CCTV system
(g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol
(h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.
8) No miniature bottles of spirits of 20 cl or below shall be sold from the premises.

page 94

page 95

page 96

page 97

Exhibit Number ASD/03

page 98

page 99

page 100

page 101

page 102

page 103

page 104

page 105

page 106

PC MORGAN
EXHIBITS

page 107

Exhibit Number DJM/01

page 108

Exhibit Number DJM/02

page 109

Exhibit Number DJM/03

page 110

HISTORY OF
LICENSING

page 111

page 112

Interim Steps Decision

APPENDIX 4

WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 4 (“The Committee”)
INTERIM STEPS DECISION
Tuesday 19 January 2021
Membership:

Councillor Karen Scarborough (Chair), Councillor Jim Glen,
Councillor Maggie Carman

OLYMPIC FOOD AND WINE, MOSCOW ROAD, LONDON, W2 4AH (the
“Premises”) 13/03218/LIDPSR
The Metropolitan Police Service (“Police”) submitted an application for a
Summary Review of the above Premises pursuant to Section 53A of the
Licensing Act 2003 (the “Act”) on 15 January 2021.
The full review of the Premises will take place within 28 days of the date the
application was made. However, this virtual hearing was convened today so
that the Committee could determine what, if any, interim steps are
necessary to be taken pending determination of the full review hearing.
The Premises Licence Holder is
, who was served with a
copy of the application and invited to attend the meeting.
In attendance:
For the Police:

Mr James Rankin (Counsel)
PC Adam Deweltz
PC Reaz Guerra

For the Premises Licence Holder:
Mr Rizwan Ashiq (Counsel)
(did not attend)
Other Officers present:
The Presenting Officer – Michelle Steward;
The Legal Adviser – Heidi Titcombe;
The Policy Officer – Kerry Simpkin;
The Committee Officer – Kisi Smith-Charlemagne.
The Premises is a convenience shop which has a licence to sell alcohol off the
Premises during the following times: Monday to Saturday
Sunday

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

page 113

At the start of the hearing Councillor Scarborough identified the Members
and other Parties present and explained the procedure.
Ms Steward advised that the summary review of the Premises was sought by
the Police on the grounds that the Premises are associated with serious crime
contrary to the prevention of public nuisance licensing objective.
Before the hearing commenced two preliminary matters were dealt with:
Application to hear the application in private
Firstly, the Chair advised that normally these meetings are held in public
which means they are streamed live so that anyone can listen to the
proceedings. However, the Police had made a request that the meeting
should be held in private because there is an on-going criminal investigation
and the criminal investigation could be compromised if the hearing was
conducted in public.
As a matter of law, the hearing can be held in private if the Committee
considers it is in the public interest to do so.
Mr Ashiq confirmed he had no objection to the hearing being conducted in
private. After a short adjournment, the Committee determined that it was in
the public interest for the hearing to be dealt with in private in view of the
allegations made`.
Additional documentation produced by the Police
Secondly, Mr Rankin confirmed that he had circulated a statement, from the
Council’s licensing Officer, together with some photographs of the Premises,
to Mr Ashiq last night and he asked for them to be admitted as part of the
Police evidence.
Mr Ashiq confirmed that he had no objection to these additional documents
being admitted. However, as he had received them around 20:30 last night,
he had not had the opportunity to obtain
instructions on the
documents.
As Mr Ashiq had no objection, the Committee decided to allow the documents
to be produced and adjourned for 10 minutes to give time for Mr Ashiq to
take instructions from
and to allow the documents to be circulated
to and read by the Committee.
Police submissions

page 114

The Committee noted the contents of the review application, together with
the statement of PC Deweltz.
Mr Rankin advised that
took over the Premises in January 2013
and applied for the existing Premises Licence to be transferred to him. This
was granted. It is a mandatory requirement of the Act that alcohol cannot
be supplied unless a Designated Premises Supervisor has been appointed.
The previous Designated Premises Supervisor (“DPS”) applied to be removed
as the DPS and this was approved on 10 May 2013.
was advised
that a new DPS would need to be appointed in order to comply with the
terms of the licence. However, it has since transpired that the Premises has
unlawfully been selling and displaying alcohol for sale since 2013. Mr Rankin
explained that when Police Officers attended the Premises on 13 January
2021,
was in attendance and was told that the alcohol would have
to be removed as it was unlawful to display alcohol without a DPS being
appointed.
However, Mr Rankin advised that the statement from the Council Officer
shows that when the Officer visited the Premises on Monday 18 January
2021, alcohol was still being displayed and this was an offence contrary to
section 137 of the Act. Mr Rankin pointed out that Officers did not need to
witness alcohol being sold, the fact that alcohol was displayed for sale was an
offence.

Mr Rankin advised that the PLH,
.
Mr Rankin

page 115

page 116

necessary and proportionate to take the following steps: 1.

to suspend the premises licence;

2.
in view of the seriousness of this case, it is necessary for this Interim
Decision to take immediate effect.

The Premise Licence is therefore suspended with immediate effect pending
the outcome of the full hearing and this was confirmed and communicated to
Mr Ashiq at the hearing.
If the Premises Licence Holder is unhappy with the decision, he is entitled to
submit a representation against the interim step taken by the Committee. If
a representation is received the Licensing Authority will convene a further
interim hearing within 48 hours of receipt of the representation. The
premises licence holder and chief officer of Police will receive advance notice
of this hearing.

page 117

The full review hearing will take place within 28 days of receipt of the Police
application to review the licence. Details of this hearing will be provided in
due course by the Licensing Authority.
The Licensing Sub-Committee
19 January 2021

page 118

Representations

APPENDIX 5

Public Representation 1 received 24th January 2021 in support of the application
Grounds for opposition are
Prevention for crime and disorder- people always congregate late at night and have
fights and arguments.
I live across the road and hear altercations all the time. They must sell illegal
substances.
Prevention of public nuisance and prevention of children from harm and public safety.
feel that shop is making the street
unsafe and attracting crime.
Public Representation 2 received 26th January 2021 in support of the application
Writing in reference to 21/00348/LIREVX - Review of Premises Licence Following
Closure Order; IN FULL 10000%+ SUPPORT for the REMOVAL of LICENCE and
CLOSURE ORDER.

Prevention of Crime and Disorder
•
Suspected drug dealing
•
The location attracts suspects of crime. Recognisable suspected culprits are
frequently seen in the area, a few examples are:
o
Following residents into buildings
o
Attempts to break and enter
o
Drug dealing transactions
o
Drug usage
Prevention of Public Nuisance
•
Customers / suspected associates of Olympic Food and Wine frequently loiters
on the pavement in front of the shop:
o
Drinking alcohol
o
Smoking and other drug usage
o
Loud conversations
o
Arguments and fights
o
Littering - empty alcohol containers, food containers, spilled food and furniture
from loitering (eg. chairs)
o
General hygiene - spitting and urinating in the area
o
In groups of 2 - 5 - blocking the pavements
o
In current pandemic environment (especially during lockdown), not wearing
masks and not following social distancing
•
The staff of Olympic Food and Wine are seen to hang out with these groups in
front of the shop
o
also in current pandemic environment with no masks or following social
distancing
•
These activities have continued despite the issue of the public notice
Protection of children from harm
•
Discarded Drug Paraphernalia

page 119

o
o
o
o

Needles and syringes
Used pipes
Used broken bottles
Broken glass

Public Safety
•
Do not feel safe any time of day to be walking near the shop or passing the
groups hanging out in front of the shop
•
Do not feel safe at night to walk pass the dark parking spaces on Salem Road
(across from Olympic Food and Wine) and Poplar Place (behind Olympic Food
and Wine) where it attracts loitering in the dark for alcohol and drugs use.
Of note:
26 Jan, 2021. The Westminister Website seems to be going through some changes in
Beta mode. Noticed that the link on the notice was not working for people to review the
application. This may reduce the number of representations.
Secondly, Olympic Food and Wine have posted the Public Notice of Review of Premises
very high above their shop window. Effectively making it impossible for the public to be
aware of the notice and read it. It is approximately 3 meter high from ground level and
impossible to read without climbing a ladder.
Public Representation numbered 3 received 27th January 2021 in support of the
application
We
which is the
residential element of the building Shaftesbury House, 23-29 Moscow Road, London W2
4AH. Please see below the comments raised by the RTM (Right To Manage) in
connection with the licence for the above mentioned unit:
We as the RTM
would like to make representation with regards to
the Review of Premises Licence for Olympic Food and Wine establishment which is
situated within our building. This is based on our own observation and experience over a
decade.
Firstly, specifically on Prevention of Crime and Disorder. There have been several
occasions when it has actually felt unsafe in both the evenings and during the day.
Vagrants and narcotic users frequent the establishment, they are vulgar, drunk and
leave debris around the block, also other drinkers are attracted to the premises and
imbibe outside and other times in our back yard. The staff have been asked not to
encourage this but are negligent and keep on selling alcohol to the same culprits.
Secondly, the Prevention of Public nuisance is as above, it is unpleasant and not
acceptable to have to put up with this antisocial behaviour from their clients on a daily
basis.
Thirdly Public Safety as above, also with the Pandemic it is even more important to keep
the area clean and not be negligent re hygiene and social distancing.
Protection of children from harm, the vagrants and drunks make it unsafe for youngsters
plus the possibility that the staff do not check the age of children when buying drinks etc

page 120

In summary, it is our considered view that this establishment do not adhere to the
general guidelines of the drink license.

page 121

Representation from Responsible Authorities
Licensing Authority Representation numbered 4 received 29th January 2021
in support of the application:
Dear Sirs
I write in relation to the application for a review of the premises licence for Olympic
Food Centre, 21 Moscow Road, London, W2 4AH
As a responsible authority under section 13 (4) of the Licensing Act 2003 as amended
under the Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the Licensing Authority have
considered the application that the Metropolitan Police have submitted initially for a
summary review and now full review and have concerns in relation to the operation of
the premises and how the premises promote the four Licensing Objectives:
•
•
•
•

Public Nuisance
Prevention of Crime & Disorder
Public Safety
Protection of children from harm

The Licensing Authority raise particular concern to the promotion of crime and disorder
when taking into account the evidence the Police have submitted along with their
grounds for review of the premises licence. Paragraph 11.24 of the Revised guidance
issued under section 182 of Licensing Act 2003 (the 182 Guidance) in relation to reviews
arising in connection with crime states “A number of reviews may arise in connection
with crime that is not directly connected with licensable activities. For example, reviews
may arise because of drugs problems at the premises, money laundering by criminal
gangs, the sale of contraband or stolen goods, the sale of firearms, or the sexual
exploitation of children. Licensing authorities do not have the power to judge the
criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a matter for the courts. The licensing
authority’s role when determining such a review is not therefore to establish the guilt or
innocence of any individual but to ensure the promotion of the crime prevention
objective.”
Paragraph 11.26 of the 182 Guidance states: “where the licensing authority is
conducting a review on the grounds that the premises have been used for criminal
purposes, its role is solely to determine what steps should be taken in connection with
the premises licence, for the promotion of the crime prevention objective”
“There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises
which should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the licensed
premises:

page 122

•for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971
and the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime;
Where reviews arise and the licensing authority determines that the crime prevention
objective is being undermined through the premises being used to further crimes, it is
expected that revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously
considered”.
Paragraph 11.25 of the 182 Guidance states “Reviews are part of the regulatory process
introduced by the 2003 Act and they are not part of criminal law and procedure. There is,
therefore, no reason why representations giving rise to a review of a premises licence
need be delayed pending the outcome of any criminal proceedings. Some reviews will
arise after the conviction in the criminal courts of certain individuals”
In addition to the concerns raised above the Licensing Authority also note that the
premises have been non compliant as they have continued to sell alcohol by retail
without a designated premises supervisor. This includes selling alcohol beyond the
hours permitted by the premises licence.
The Licensing Authority have been provided with statements (appendix 1 and 2) from a
Neighbourhood Coordinator on behalf of the West team which includes a statement
from a local resident. The Licensing Authority have also been provided with further
statements from James Hayes, Team Manager for the area City Inspectors Team, who
has carried out a number of visits to the premises. (Appendix 3 and 4)
As part of the Licensing Authorities submissions we may call City Inspectors to give
evidence. A list will be provided prior to the hearing.
History of Premises
Applied for conversion in 2005. The premises trades as a convenience store with an off
licence. It has permitted hours for the sale by retail of alcohol from 08:00 to 23:00
Monday to Saturday and 10:00 to 22:30 on Sundays. The original licence holders were

In June 2012 the DPS changed to

.

In January 2013 an application to transfer the licence holder to
was
received which took immediate effect. The licence was issued on the 19th February
2013.
On 10th May 2013 notice was received from the
that he
wished to be removed from the licence. (appendix 5) He acknowledged that he had

page 123

served the notice on the licence holder
and Metropolitan Police Service . On
the same day the Licensing Authority acknowledged to
that we had
received the notice (appendix 6). The Licensing Authority also notified the Police and
City Inspectors and the agent who had been attached to the previous cases
(appendix 7 and 8). It was at this time all relevant parties were advised that as there was
no longer a DPS at the premises the provision of sale by retail of alcohol could no longer
take place until such time as a new DPS had been appointed. No such application has
been received to date.
The Licensing Authority have searched the system and can confirm that no other
application was received for this premises until the summary review came in on 15 th
January 2021.
Although the decision is for members of the Licensing Sub Committee the Licensing
Authority support the views of the Metropolitan Police Service. Please accept this as a
formal representation.

page 124

page 125

page 126

page 127

page 128

page 129

page 130

page 131

page 132

page 133

Schedule 12
Part A

WARD: Lancaster Gate
UPRN: 100023480397

City of Westminster
64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP

Premises licence

Premises licence number:

Regulation 33, 34

13/03218/LIDPSR

Original Reference:

05/06095/LIPCV

Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises:
Olympic Food Centre
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Telephone Number: 020 7243 3498
Where the licence is time limited, the dates:
Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Playing of Recorded Music
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for
consideration and with a view to profit
Sale by Retail of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities:
Playing of Recorded Music

Unrestricted

Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind
for consideration and with a view to profit
Unrestricted
Sale by Retail of Alcohol
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
10:00 to 22:30

For times authorised for Christmas and Good Friday see conditions at Annex 1

The opening hours of the premises:

page 134

Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol, whether these are on and/or off
supplies:
Alcohol is supplied for consumption off the Premises.

Part 2
Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of
premises licence:

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where
applicable)
N/A

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the
premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol:
Name:

None

Please note: It is the policy of the Licensing Authority not to display the address details of
a designated premises supervisor.

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated
premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol:
Licence Number:
Licensing Authority:

Date:

None
None

14 January 2021

This licence has been authorised by Miss Daisy Gadd on behalf of the Director - Public
Protection and Licensing.

page 135

Annex 1 – Mandatory conditions

1.

No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises
supervisor in respect of this licence.

2.

No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor
does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.

3.

Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who
holds a personal licence.

4.

(1)

The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that
an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the
sale or supply of alcohol.

(2)

The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must
ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with
the age verification policy.

(3)

The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be
under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to
produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their
photograph, date of birth and either—
(a)
(b)

a holographic mark, or
an ultraviolet feature.

5(i)

A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or
off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

5(ii)

For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 5(i) above (a)

"duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;

(b)

"permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D+(DxV)
Where (i)
(ii)
(iii)

(c)

P is the permitted price,
D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty
were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if
the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the
alcohol;

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in
force a premises licence (i)
(ii)
(iii)

the holder of the premises licence,
the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence,
or
the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of
alcohol under such a licence;

page 136

(d)

"relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply
in question; and

(e)

"value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value
Added Tax Act 1994.

5(iii).

Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 5(ii)(b) above would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the
nearest penny.

5(iv).

(1)

(2)

Sub-paragraph 5(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by
Paragraph 5(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the
rate of duty or value added tax.
The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or
supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days
beginning on the second day.

Conditions reproducing the effect of conditions subject to which the relevant existing
licences have effect.
Conditions for Sale of Alcohol
Conditions which reproduce the effect of any restriction imposed on the use of the
premises by specified enactments.
6.

Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied except during permitted hours.
In this condition, permitted hours means:
(a) On weekdays, other than Christmas Day, 08:00 to 23:00
(b) On Sundays, other than Christmas Day, 10:00 to 22:30
(c) On Christmas Day, 12:00 to 15:00 and 19:00 to 22:30
(d) On Good Friday, 08:00 to 22:30
The above restrictions do not prohibit:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

7.

during the first twenty minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol
from the premises unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel;
ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by the
vendor of the alcohol so ordered;
sale of alcohol to a trader or club for the purposes of the trade or club;
the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen in which
the sale or supply of alcohol is carried out under the authority of the Secretary of
State or an authorised mess of members of Her Majesty's naval, military or air
forces.

Alcohol shall not be sold in an open container or be consumed in the licensed premises.

page 137

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule
None

page 138

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority
None

page 139

Annex 4 – Plans

page 140

Schedule 12
Part B

City of Westminster
64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP

WARD: Lancaster Gate
UPRN: 100023480397

Premises licence
summary

Premises licence number:

Regulation 33, 34

13/03218/LIDPSR

Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises:
Olympic Food Centre
21 Moscow Road
London
W2 4AH
Telephone Number: 020 7243 3498
Where the licence is time limited, the dates:
Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the licence:
Playing of Recorded Music
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for
consideration and with a view to profit
Sale by Retail of Alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities:
Playing of Recorded Music

Unrestricted

Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind
for consideration and with a view to profit
Unrestricted
Sale by Retail of Alcohol
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
10:00 to 22:30

For times authorised for Christmas and Good Friday see conditions at Annex 1
The opening hours of the premises:
Monday to Saturday:
Sunday:

08:00 to 23:00
08:00 to 22:30

page 141

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol, whether these are on and/or off
supplies:
Alcohol is supplied for consumption off the Premises.

Name and (registered) address of holder of premises licence:

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where
applicable)
N/A

Name of designated premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the
supply of alcohol:
Name:

None

State whether access to the premises by children is restricted or prohibited:
Restricted

Date:

14 January 2021

This licence has been authorised by Miss Daisy Gadd on behalf of the Director - Public
Protection and Licensing.

page 142

page 143

page 144

page 145

page 146

page 147

page 148

page 149

page 150

page 151

page 152

page 153

page 154

page 155

page 156

page 157

page 158

APPENDIX 7
Licence and Appeal History
Premises licence history
Application

Details of Application

05/06095/LIPCV

Conversion Under the Licensing
Act 2003

06/10263/WCCMAP

Master Licence

10/09430/LIPD

Application for duplicate licence

06 June 2012

12/04331/LIPDPS

Application to vary the Designated
Premises Supervisor

18 April 2013

13/00644/LIPT

Application to transfer the
Premises Licence to Mr Pejman
Akbari
Application to be Removed as the
Designated Premises Supervisor

18.02.2013

13/03218/LIDPSR

There is no appeal history for the premises.

page 159

Date
Determined
19.09.2005

10 May 2013

Decision
Granted

Granted under
Delegated
Authority
Granted under
Delegated
Authority
Granted under
Delegated
Authority
Granted under
Delegated
Authority
Granted under
Delegated
Authority

11. Reviews

Appendix 7

The review process
11.1

The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences and club
premises certificates represent a key protection for the community where problems
associated with the licensing objectives occur after the grant or variation of a premises
licence or club premises certificate.

11.2

At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate, a
responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing authority to review
the licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the premises in connection with
any of the four licensing objectives.

11.3

An application for review may be made electronically, provided that the licensing
authority agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy of the application,
if the licensing authority requires one. The licensing authority may also agree in
advance that the application need not be given in hard copy. However, these
applications are outside the formal electronic application process and may not be
submitted via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s electronic facility.

11.4

In addition, the licensing authority must review a licence if the premises to which it
relates was made the subject of a closure order by the police based on nuisance or
disorder and the magistrates’ court has sent the authority the relevant notice of its
determination, or if the police have made an application for summary review on the
basis that premises are associated with serious crime and/or disorder.

11.5

Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a premises
licence or club premises certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing authority may apply
for a review if it is concerned about licensed activities at premises and wants to
intervene early without waiting for representations from other persons. However, it is not
expected that licensing authorities should normally act as responsible authorities in
applying for reviews on behalf of other persons, such as local residents or community
groups. These individuals or groups are entitled to apply for a review for a licence or
certificate in their own right if they have grounds to do so. It is also reasonable for
licensing authorities to expect other responsible authorities to intervene where the basis
for the intervention falls within the remit of that other authority. For example, the police
should take appropriate steps where the basis for the review is concern about crime
and disorder or the sexual exploitation of children. Likewise, where there are concerns
about noise nuisance, it is reasonable to expect the local authority exercising
environmental health functions for the area in which the premises are situated to make
the application for review.
11.6
Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority
and applies for a review, it is important that a separation of responsibilities is still
achieved in this process to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest.
As outlined previously in Chapter 9 of this Guidance, the distinct functions of acting as
licensing authority and responsible authority should be exercised by different officials to
ensure a separation of responsibilities. Further information on how licensing authorities
should achieve this separation of responsibilities can be found in Chapter 9, paragraphs

page 160

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 1

9.13 to 9.19 of this Guidance.
11.7

In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises in respect
of which there is a premises licence or club premises certificate and must be relevant to
the promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Following the grant or variation
of a licence or certificate, a complaint regarding a general issue in the local area relating
to the licensing objectives, such as a general (crime and disorder) situation in a town
centre, should generally not be regarded as a relevant representation unless it can be
positively tied or linked by a causal connection to particular premises, which would allow
for a proper review of the licence or certificate. For instance, a geographic cluster of
complaints, including along transport routes related to an individual public house and its
closing time, could give grounds for a review of an existing licence as well as direct
incidents of crime and disorder around a particular public house.

11.8

Where a licensing authority receives a geographic cluster of complaints, the authority
may consider whether these issues are the result of the cumulative impact of licensed
premises within the area concerned. In such circumstances, the authority may also
consider whether it would be appropriate to include a special policy relating to
cumulative impact within its licensing policy statement. Further guidance on cumulative
impact policies can be found in Chapter 14 of this Guidance.

11.9

Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the subsequent
hearing or may stand in their own right. Additional representations which do not amount
to an amplification of the original representation may not be made at the hearing.
Representations may be made electronically, provided the licensing authority agrees
and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy, unless the licensing authority waives
this requirement.

11.10

Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns about problems
identified at premises, it is good practice for them to give licence holders early warning
of their concerns and the need for improvement, and where possible they should advise
the licence or certificate holder of the steps they need to take to address those
concerns. A failure by the holder to respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a
decision to apply for a review. Co-operation at a local level in promoting the licensing
objectives should be encouraged and reviews should not be used to undermine this cooperation.

11.11

If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a responsible
authority (for example, a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade
association), before taking action the licensing authority must first consider whether the
complaint being made is relevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitious. Further guidance
on determining whether a representation is frivolous or vexatious can be found in
Chapter 9 of this Guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10).

Repetitious grounds of review
11.12

A repetitious ground is one that is identical or substantially similar to:

•

a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to the
same premises licence or certificate which has already been determined; or

•

representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or
certificate was granted; or

•

representations which would have been made when the application for the premises

page 161

2 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

licence was first made and which were excluded then by reason of the prior issue of a
provisional statement; and, in addition to the above grounds, a reasonable interval has
not elapsed since that earlier review or grant.
11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware of the need to prevent attempts to
review licences merely as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence following
the failure of representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier occasion. It
is for licensing authorities themselves to judge what should be regarded as a reasonable
interval in these circumstances. However, it is recommended that more than one review
originating from a person other than a responsible authority in relation to a particular
premises should not be permitted within a 12 month period on similar grounds save in
compelling circumstances or where it arises following a closure order.
11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not apply to
responsible authorities which may make more than one application for a review of a
licence or certificate within a 12 month period.
11.15 When a licensing authority receives an application for a review from a responsible
authority or any other person, or in accordance with the closure procedures described in
Part 8 of the 2003 Act (for example, closure orders), it must arrange a hearing. The
arrangements for the hearing must follow the provisions set out in regulations. These
regulations are published on the Government’s legislation website (www.legislation.gov.uk).
It is particularly important that the premises licence holder is made fully aware of any
representations made in respect of the premises, any evidence supporting the
representations and that the holder or the holder’s legal representative has therefore been
able to prepare a response.

Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review
11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it may
exercise on determining a review where it considers them appropriate for the promotion of
the licensing objectives.
11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take any further
steps appropriate to promoting the licensing objectives. In addition, there is nothing to
prevent a licensing authority issuing an informal warning to the licence holder and/or to
recommend improvement within a particular period of time. It is expected that licensing
authorities will regard such informal warnings as an important mechanism for ensuring that
the licensing objectives are effectively promoted and that warnings should be issued in
writing to the licence holder.
11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or environmental health
officers have already issued warnings requiring improvement – either orally or in writing
– that have failed as part of their own stepped approach to address concerns, licensing
authorities should not merely repeat that approach and should take this into account
when considering what further action is appropriate. Similarly, licensing authorities may
take into account any civil immigration penalties which a licence holder has been
required to pay for employing an illegal worker.
11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers is
appropriate, it may take any of the following steps:

page 162

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 3

•

modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions or
any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the hours
of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular times;

•

exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude the
performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the
incidental live and recorded music exemption)10;

•

remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider that the
problems are the result of poor management;

•

suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;

•

revoke the licence.

11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing authorities
should so far as possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns that the
representations identify. The remedial action taken should generally be directed at these
causes and should always be no more than an appropriate and proportionate response to
address the causes of concern that instigated the review.
11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the removal and
replacement of the designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to remedy a problem
where the cause of the identified problem directly relates to poor management decisions
made by that individual.
11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor company
practice or policy and the mere removal of the designated premises supervisor may be an
inadequate response to the problems presented. Indeed, where subsequent review
hearings are generated by representations, it should be rare merely to remove a
succession of designated premises supervisors as this would be a clear indication of
deeper problems that impact upon the licensing objectives.
11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and exclusions of
licensable activities may be imposed either permanently or for a temporary period of up to
three months. Temporary changes or suspension of the licence for up to three months
could impact on the business holding the licence financially and would only be expected to
be pursued as an appropriate means of promoting the licensing objectives or preventing
illegal working. So, for instance, a licence could be suspended for a weekend as a means
of deterring the holder from allowing the problems that gave rise to the review to happen
again. However, it will always be important that any detrimental financial impact that may
result from a licensing authority’s decision is appropriate and proportionate to the promotion
of the licensing objectives and for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. But
where premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, the licensing authority should not
hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to tackle the problems at the
premises and, where other measures are deemed insufficient, to revoke the licence.

10

See chapter 15 in relation to the licensing of live and recorded music.

page 163

4 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

Reviews arising in connection with crime
11.24 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly connected
with licensable activities. For example, reviews may arise because of drugs problems at the
premises, money laundering by criminal gangs, the sale of contraband or stolen goods, the
sale of firearms, or the sexual exploitation of children. Licensing authorities do not have the
power to judge the criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a matter for the courts. The
licensing authority’s role when determining such a review is not therefore to establish the
guilt or innocence of any individual but to ensure the promotion of the crime prevention
objective.
11.25 Reviews are part of the regulatory process introduced by the 2003 Act and they are not
part of criminal law and procedure. There is, therefore, no reason why representations
giving rise to a review of a premises licence need be delayed pending the outcome of any
criminal proceedings. Some reviews will arise after the conviction in the criminal courts of
certain individuals, but not all. In any case, it is for the licensing authority to determine
whether the problems associated with the alleged crimes are taking place on the premises
and affecting the promotion of the licensing objectives. Where a review follows a
conviction, it would also not be for the licensing authority to attempt to go beyond any
finding by the courts, which should be treated as a matter of undisputed evidence before
them.
11.26 Where the licensing authority is conducting a review on the grounds that the premises
have been used for criminal purposes, its role is solely to determine what steps should be
taken in connection with the premises licence, for the promotion of the crime prevention
objective. It is important to recognise that certain criminal activity or associated problems
may be taking place or have taken place despite the best efforts of the licence holder and
the staff working at the premises and despite full compliance with the conditions attached
to the licence. In such circumstances, the licensing authority is still empowered to take any
appropriate steps to remedy the problems. The licensing authority’s duty is to take steps
with a view to the promotion of the licensing objectives and the prevention of illegal working
in the interests of the wider community and not those of the individual licence holder.
11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises
which should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the licensed
premises:
11.27.1 for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971
and the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime;
•

for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms;

•

for the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music, which
does considerable damage to the industries affected;

•

for the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on the
health, educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for crime of
young people;

•

for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography;

•

by organised groups of paedophiles to groom children;

•

as the base for the organisation of criminal activity, particularly by gangs;

page 164

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 5

•

for the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks;

•

for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their
immigration status in the UK;

•

for unlawful gambling; and

•

for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol.

11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office (Immigration
Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are responsible authorities, will
use the review procedures effectively to deter such activities and crime. Where reviews
arise and the licensing authority determines that the crime prevention objective is being
undermined through the premises being used to further crimes, it is expected that
revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously considered.

Review of a premises licence following closure order or illegal
working compliance order
11.29

•

•
•

Licensing authorities are subject to certain timescales, set out in the legislation, for the
review of a premises licence following a closure order under section 80 of the Anti-social
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 or an illegal working compliance order under
section 38 of and Schedule 6 to the Immigration Act 2016. The relevant time periods run
concurrently and are as follows:
when the licensing authority receives notice that a magistrates’ court has made a closure
order it has 28 days to determine the licence review – the determination must be made
before the expiry of the 28th day after the day on which the notice is received;
the hearing must be held within ten working days, the first of which is the day after the
day the notice from the magistrates’ court is received;
notice of the hearing must be given no later than five working days before the first
hearing day (there must be five clear working days between the giving of the notice
and the start of the hearing).

Review of a premises licence following persistent sales of alcohol
to children
11.29

The Government recognises that the majority of licensed premises operate responsibly
and undertake due diligence checks on those who appear to be under the age of 18 at
the point of sale (or 21 and 25 where they operate a Challenge 21 or 25 scheme).
Where these systems are in place, licensing authorities may wish to take a
proportionate approach in cases where there have been two sales of alcohol within very
quick succession of one another (e.g., where a new cashier has not followed policy and
conformed with a store’s age verification procedures). However, where persistent sales
of alcohol to children have occurred at premises, and it is apparent that those managing
the premises do not operate a responsible policy or have not exercised appropriate due
diligence, responsible authorities should consider taking steps to ensure that a review of
the licence is the norm in these circumstances. This is particularly the case where there
has been a prosecution for the offence under section 147A or a closure notice has been
given under section 169A of the 2003 Act. In determining the review, the licensing
authority should consider revoking the licence if it considers this appropriate.

page 165

6 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

This page is intentionally left blank

